No. S275121

In the Supreme Court of the State of California

PETER QUACH,

Plaintiff-Appellant,

v.

CALIFORNIA COMMERCE CLUB, INC.,

Defendant-Appellee.

Second Appellate District, Case No. B310458 Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. 19STCV42445 The Honorable Michael L. Stern, Judge

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DILIP VITHLANI (SBN 199474) LAW OFFICES OF DILIP VITHLANI, P.C.

18000 Studebaker Road, Ste. 700 Cerritos, CA 90703

Telephone: (562) 867-6622

JONATHAN J. MOON (SBN 282522) THE LAW OFFICE OF JONATHAN J. MOON 18000 Studebaker Road, Ste. 700

Cerritos, CA 90703

Telephone: (213) 867-1908

*NILAY U. VORA (SBN 268339) JEFFREY A. ATTEBERRY (SBN 266728)

I. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

In 2003, this Court adopted a non-exhaustive, multi-factor test for deciding whether a party has "waived" its contractual right to compel arbitration—a test lower courts were required to apply under both the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA") and the California Arbitration Act ("CAA"). St. Agnes Med. Ctr. v. PacifiCare of Cal. (2003) 31 Cal.4th 1187, 1195-1203 (St. Agnes); see also Iskanian v. CLS Transp. L.A., LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 374-78 (applying St. Agnes test).) ¹ The most "critical" or "determinative" factor, according to the Court, was prejudice to the party asserting waiver. (St. Agnes, 31 Cal.4th at 1203.) This focus on prejudice, however, does not exist under California contract law waiver analysis, which concentrates on the conduct of the waiving party. (See id. at 1195 n.4.) St. Agnes justified this departure based on a "policy favoring arbitration" under the FAA and the CAA. (Id. at 1195.)

On May 23, 2022, the United States Supreme Court in Morgan v. Sundance, Inc. (U.S. May 23, 2022) 142 S.Ct. 1708 (Morgan) unanimously reversed the line of federal cases upon which St. Agnes relied. It squarely held that the FAA prohibits courts from requiring a showing of "prejudice" as a condition of establishing waiver. (Id. at 1713 (abrogating Carcich v. Rederi

¹ As both cases explain, the term "waiver" has become a shorthand term for the loss of the contractual right to. (*St. Agnes*, 31 Cal.4th at 1195 n.4; *Iskanian*, 59 Cal.4th at 374.) While this Brief generally adopts the same shorthand, the time has come for this Court, as in *Morgan*, to clarify that there is no unique waiver test bespoke to the arbitration context.

A/B Nordie (2d Cir. 1968) 389 F.2d 692 (Carcich), and similar cases from eight other federal circuits).) Morgan makes clear that the FAA must treat arbitration contracts no differently than any other contract in applying waiver or any other contract principles. Morgan, then, overturns the St. Agnes test at least to the extent that the FAA applies.

In the lower court proceedings, the parties in this case disagreed as to whether the CAA or the FAA applied—though they agreed that the dispute might be immaterial at the time because the standard was the same. But that was before *Morgan*.

Thus, this case presents the following issues:

- 1. Does the FAA govern the arbitration rights in this case? If so, does the prejudice inquiry of *St. Agnes* apply, or does the FAA under *Morgan* prohibit the application of an arbitration-specific waiver and prejudice requirement in favor of the "ordinary procedural rule" of California contract law? If there is a prohibition on arbitration-specific contract rules, what general contract principles apply to claims under the FAA that a party has relinquished or lost its contractual right to arbitration? (*Morgan*, 142 S.Ct. at 1713.)
- 2. Alternatively, if the CAA applies in this case, should there be a distinction between the CAA and the FAA? Does the CAA (particularly Code of Civil Procedure § 1281), unlike the FAA, authorize the creation of an arbitration-specific rule of "waiver" requiring an inquiry into prejudice to the party asserting waiver? Or does Section 1281 (mandating

enforcement of arbitration agreements "save upon such grounds exist for revocation of any contract") bar the creation and application of the arbitration-specific rules, as *Morgan* held with respect to the FAA?

II. INTRODUCTION

This case presents the core issues that now must be decided by this Court following the U.S Supreme Court's unanimous opinion in *Morgan v. Sundance*. For decades, this Court has interpreted the CAA and the FAA to be identical in operation, given the identical language of their statutory commands. But federal law under *Morgan* now diverges dramatically from present California law on the enforceability of arbitrations.

The recent *Morgan* decision abrogates—at least in cases arising under the FAA—the arbitration-specific waiver rule established by *St. Agnes* in 2003 and modified by *Iskanian* in 2014, which makes prejudice the "determinative" factor when inquiring whether a party has waived its contractual right to arbitration by participating in litigation. Instead, *Morgan* requires that ordinarily applicable contract law govern all questions of enforceability of an agreement to arbitrate. *Morgan* directs federal courts to treat questions on the enforceability of arbitration contracts the same as they would treat such questions arising from any other contract—a principle of neutrality. *Morgan* considered and rejected bespoke arbitration waiver rules that required prejudice to a party asserting waiver where ordinary contract waiver analysis would have no such prejudice requirement—

barring application of the arbitration-specific waiver rule of St. Agnes in cases arising under the FAA.

While *Morgan* abrogated *St. Agnes* in cases controlled by the FAA, *Morgan* left open to lower courts to determine the appropriate state law contract principles that would replace bespoke waiver tests requiring arbitration. As the final arbiter of state law, this Court should announce that courts hearing cases where the FAA controls are required to apply the usual rule for waiver of a contractual right—*i.e.*, knowledge of the right and express or implied relinquishment of that right.

But given the identical statutory commands of the CAA and the FAA—and their shared policy of ensuring that arbitration agreements are enforceable in the same manner as other contracts—this Court should also explicitly bring the CAA back in harmony with the FAA by declaring that the same ordinary contract rule for waiver applies in cases arising under the CAA. Just as *Morgan* engaged in a course-correction to realign federal law governing enforceability of arbitrations, so too should this Court course-correct decades of precedent that misinterpreted the CAA's legislative command and cases that created arbitrationspecific rules that are not only inconsistent with, but also unauthorized by, the legislative text of the CAA. By creating a waiver test specific to arbitrations in St. Agnes, this Court deviated from the legislative command of the CAA. This creation of a bespoke rule for waiver of contractual arbitration rights is a sharp divergence from every other decision of this Court—which uniformly apply the usual contract law principles when determining the enforceability of an arbitration contract.

Irrespective of whether the CAA or the FAA controls, applying the ordinary test of contractual waiver to an undisputed factual record here, the Court should reverse the decision by the Court of Appeal and instead affirm the Superior Court's finding of waiver by Commerce of its right to force Mr. Quach into an arbitration. The Superior Court persuasively found that Commerce's demonstrated knowledge of its own arbitration policy and agreement, combined with Commerce's extensive litigation conduct that was inconsistent with—and even barred by—the express terms of that arbitration agreement, demonstrated the express and implied intention to relinquish the right to arbitrate. The Court of Appeal should be reversed, the finding of waiver by the trial court should be affirmed, and Mr. Quach should be permitted on remand to expeditiously litigate before the trial court.

III. STATEMENT OF CASE

A. Factual Background

1. Peter Quach's employment and termination.

Plaintiff-Appellant Peter Quach is a currently 73-year-old man (who was 69 at the time of termination) of Vietnamese descent. (AA010.) ² In 1989, Defendant-Appellee California Commerce Club, Inc. ("Commerce") hired Mr. Quach as a

² Mr. Quach's record citations use the following format: "AA" (appellant's appendix) and "AR" (augmented record).

"Floorperson" to supervise activity on the gambling floor of its casino in Commerce, California. (AA010.) Mr. Quach remained in that position for nearly 30 years, until 2018, when Commerce fired him. (AA011.)

In 2015, Commerce hired new upper management. (AA010.) Afterwards, Mr. Quach observed several occasions on which older employees were written up, suspended, and/or terminated for minor, trivial, nonexistent, and even fabricated violations. (AA011.) Mr. Quach himself was written up and suspended, for the first time in his career, in April 2016 over a trivial non-issue of "failing to notify" management he discovered and changed out a misplaced Pai Gow game tile. (AA011.) The new upper management also began pressuring Mr. Quach to retire. (AA011.)

Then, in November 2018, while Mr. Quach was working his shift, Mr. Quach was called over by a dealer who questioned five \$20 bills she had received from a customer. (AA011.) Mr. Quach instructed the dealer to check the bills with the counterfeit-detecting marker that Commerce provided to all dealers. (AA011.) The dealer checked the bills and determined they were genuine, so she accepted them in exchange for chips. (AA011.) Later, one of Commerce's cashiers alleged that the bills were in fact counterfeit. (AA011.) Mr. Quach received a call at home informing him that he was being suspended over the incident. (AA011.) He was then called into an office and interrogated, during which he was accused of being dishonest. (AA011.) Days later, he learned he was being terminated from his twenty-nine year career with Commerce. (AA011.)

2. <u>Commerce's arbitration agreement and its</u> execution.

In 2015 (the same year as the shift in upper management), Commerce's Human Resources Department notified all casino employees they were required to attend a meeting about arbitration. (AA073.) Commerce proceeded to call groups of employees into a conference room where they were given a form arbitration agreement and made to watch an eight-minute video about the new arbitration policy. (AA073.) The "arbitration meetings ran 24 hours a day, every 30 minutes with the exception of the attendants' meal breaks." (AA073.) The video explained that signing the arbitration agreement was a "condition of continued employment" and that employees had thirty days to sign it. (AA073-74, AA083-84.) Mr. Quach signed and returned his two-page copy of the arbitration agreement the same day so he could get back to work. (AA047, AA083-84.)

B. Superior Court Proceedings

1. <u>Commerce produced the arbitration agreement prior to litigation.</u>

Prior to filing his Superior Court action, Mr. Quach requested (i) the entirety of his personnel file, (ii) all his payroll records, and (iii) a copy of every instrument he executed with Commerce. (See Labor Code §§ 1198.5 (personnel file), 226 (wage statements), 432 (instruments executed).)³ In response, on November 8, 2019,

³ Mr. Quach also exhausted his administrative remedies prior to filing suit, as Appellee did not dispute below. (AA011.)

Commerce produced a 514-page file that it represented constituted all requested documents. (AA105.)

The file contained both parties' signatures—Mr. Quach on behalf of himself, and Jose Garcia on behalf of California Commerce Club as its Executive Director of Human Resources—to an agreement executed on February 18, 2015 to arbitrate employment-related disputes amongst the parties. (AA112.) Commerce would later produce the full, two-page agreement in discovery. (AA083-84.) However, the first page, which was missing from the pre-litigation production, proved to be nothing more than boilerplate language common to all employees. (AA83.) The signature page was produced before litigation even began. (AA105, AA112.)

The arbitration agreement provides in relevant part as follows:

PLEASE READ THESE PROVISIONS CAREFULLY, BY SIGNING BELOW, YOU ARE ATTESTING THAT YOU HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD **DOCUMENT KNOWINGLY** AND ARE VOLUNTARILY AGREEING TO ITS TERMS. INCLUDING YOUR WAIVER OF A RIGHT TO HAVE THIS MATTER LITIGATED IN A COURT OR JURY TRIAL, OR TO HAVE THIS MATTER ON RESOLVED Α CLASS. COLLECTIVE. CONSOLIDATED OR REPRESENTATIVE BASIS.

(AA084.) The arbitration agreement further provides as follows:

In the event that either party files, and is allowed by the courts to prosecute, a court action on any claim covered by this agreement, the parties agree that they each agree not to request, and hereby waives his/her/its right to a trial by jury.

(AA083.)

2. Mr. Quach filed suit in Los Angeles Superior Court.

On November 22, 2019, Mr. Quach sued Commerce in Los Angeles Superior Court for age discrimination, retaliation, harassment, and other related claims. (AA008.) The case was assigned to the Hon. Michael L. Stern. Commerce filed its Answer on January 7, 2020, asserting its right to arbitration as an "affirmative defense," though Commerce declined to move to compel arbitration as permitted by Code of Civil Procedure § 1281.2 and 9 U.S.C. § 3. (AA031.) Commerce did not demand a jury trial at that time.

3. Commerce declined to assert a contractual right to arbitrate in its case management statement and instead demanded and scheduled a jury trial, posted jury fees, and initiated discovery.

A case management conference was held on February 28, 2020. (AA93, 105.) Commerce filed a CMC statement in which it demanded a jury trial and declined to answer questions about the possibility of contractually mandated private arbitration. Instead, Commerce checked the box requesting a jury trial (AR012 ¶ 5); did not check the box for binding private arbitration (AR013 ¶ 5); proposed a plan for completing discovery (AR014 ¶ 16); and attested that its attorneys were "completely familiar with this case and will be fully prepared to discuss the status of discovery and alternative dispute resolution, as well as other issues raised by this statement" (AR015 (emphasis added).) Commerce posted jury fees and filed a Notice of Posting of Jury Fees on March 3, 2020 (AA105; AR019.)

The parties promptly initiated discovery with both sides propounding the full range of written discovery, followed by nine months of meet-and-confer discussions (AA105-08) and depositions that continued until September 16, 2020. (AA107.) Early in this process, Commerce produced the other page of Mr. Quach's arbitration agreement on March 5, 2020. (AA106, AA117.)

During this period, Mr. Quach also requested the depositions of several key employees of Commerce. (AA099-100.) Commerce refused to produce those employees for depositions on the ground that it was furloughing those employees due to the COVID-19 pandemic. (AA107.) Despite not making its employees available for deposition, Commerce took Mr. Quach's deposition for a full day on June 23, 2020, with a planned second session to be scheduled. (AA107.)

Mr. Quach also sought "me too" evidence—including the identity of individuals who had allegedly been the subject of age discrimination and termination of employment—by way of Form Interrogatory, Employment Law No. 209.2. (AA107.) Commerce responded that no other employees had complained of age discrimination since 2015. (AA124.) But Commerce's assertion turned out to be entirely false, as Mr. Quach subsequently discovered at his own effort and expense the existence of no fewer than eight age-discrimination lawsuits filed against Commerce in Los Angeles Superior Court alone since 2015. (AA135.)

4. Commerce moved to compel arbitration.

With pre-trial proceedings going badly, Commerce moved to compel arbitration on December 23, 2020, more than a year after Mr. Quach filed his lawsuit. (AA038.) Commerce filed its motion more than two weeks after the originally scheduled trial date, which had been continued due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Commerce's excuse for having waited so long was its own purported failure to locate a "complete, signed arbitration agreement" in Mr. Quach's "900+" page employee file (an amount Commerce described as "lengthy") even though it had previously been produced in discovery. (AA049.) Mr. Quach opposed the motion on the grounds of waiver and of unconscionability. (AA087.)

5. Commerce's motion was denied on waiver grounds.

The Superior Court, Hon. Michael L. Stern presiding, found that Commerce had waived its right to compel arbitration by failing to seek arbitration sooner and denied Commerce's motion. (AA158-59 (citing *Bower v. Inter-Con Security Systems, Inc.* (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 1035, 1048).) The trial court expressly found that defendant "knew of its right to compel arbitration." (AA159.) The court had no need to reach Mr. Quach's unconscionability arguments.

C. Court of Appeal's Split Opinion Reversing Trial Court

Commerce took an interlocutory appeal from the order denying its motion to compel arbitration to the Second District Court of Appeal. For the next two years, appellate proceedings continued. The Court of Appeal issued an initial, unpublished opinion on April 14, 2022. (See Quach v. California Commerce Club, Inc. (Apr. 14, 2022) 2022 WL 1113998 (non-precedential).)

After granting rehearing on its own motion, the Court, on May 10, 2022, issued a revised 2-1 decision, and ordered publication of the portion of its decision reversing the trial court's finding of waiver. (Quach v. California Commerce Club, Inc. (May 10, 2022) 78 Cal.App.5th 470, 2022 WL 1468016.) The Court did not order publication of the portion ofits opinion finding unconscionability. (Id. at 485.) San Luis Obispo Superior Court Visiting Judge Charles Crandall dissented on both grounds. (Id. at 485-90.)

1. The majority found no waiver because of a lack of prejudice.

The core holding of the published portion of the opinion focused on *St. Agnes*'s test and its direction to inquire as to the prejudice to the party asserting waiver resulting from the participation in litigation by the party now seeking to arbitrate: "Quach's showing of prejudice was inadequate as a matter of law, and he therefore failed to meet his 'heavy burden' below." (*Id.* at 478 (quoting *Iskanian*, 59 Cal.4th at 375).) In its statement of the "[a]pplicable law," the Court of Appeal cited the six-factor test set forth in *Iskanian*. (*Id.* at 477 (citing *Iskanian*, 59 Cal.4th at 375).)

However, in its actual analysis, the Court of Appeal focused exclusively on the sixth factor of "prejudice" and, in doing so, relied on *St. Agnes*'s declaration that "the question of prejudice, however, is 'critical in waiver determinations." (*Id.* at 478 (quoting *St. Agnes*, 31 Cal.4th at 1203); *see also id.* at 474 ("Our Supreme Court has made clear that participation in litigation alone cannot support a finding of waiver, and fees and costs incurred in

litigation alone will not establish prejudice on the part of the party resisting arbitration.") (citing *St. Agnes*, 31 Cal.4th at 1203).) According to the majority, despite a delay of almost a year, "Quach ha[d] not met *St. Agnes*'s test." (*Id.* at 479.)

2. The dissent would have affirmed the waiver finding and outlined the mischief that will result from the majority opinion.

Judge Crandall, sitting by designation of the Chief Justice, in dissent explained, "Quach and Commerce Club are well over two years into litigation, far beyond the time when private arbitration would have fulfilled its promise 'as a speedy and relatively inexpensive means of dispute resolution." (*Id.* at 488 (quoting *OTO*, *L.L.C.* v. Kho (2019) 8 Cal.5th 111, 125).) Judge Crandall went on to observe:

We can readily surmise from Commerce Club's lack of candor (as the trial court implicitly did) why Commerce Club may have wanted to put Quach through the time and effort of litigation by serving discovery, taking his full day deposition, trying to obtain his theory of the case, and then pulling the litigation plug 13 months after first raising the specter of arbitration in its initial response. What better way to intimidate a vulnerable at-will employee who lacks the economic resources to cope with such delay?

(Id. at 489-90.)

At bottom: "Because of the disputed evidence, the deferential standard of review traditionally used in arbitration waiver cases, and the very real prejudice Quach suffered as a result of Commerce Club's tactics," Judge Crandall "respectfully dissent[ed]." (*Id.* at 490.)

D. The United States Supreme Court's Decision in *Morgan* Abrogated the Federal Line of Authority Behind California's Requirement of Prejudice

Less than two weeks after the Court of Appeal's opinion on rehearing, the U.S. Supreme Court issued its opinion in *Morgan*, 142 S.Ct. at 1708. In *Morgan*, a fast-food employee sued her employer that, for eight months, had "defended itself against Morgan's suit as if no arbitration agreement existed" before finally moving to compel arbitration under the FAA. (*Id.* at 1711.)

The plaintiff opposed on the basis of waiver. (*Id.*) The district court found waiver, but the Eighth Circuit reversed, concluding that the prejudice requirement was not satisfied. (*Id.* at 1712.) (citing *Erdman Co. v. Phoenix Land & Acquisition, LLC* (8th Cir. 2011) 650 F.3d 1115, 1117).)

The U.S. Supreme Court, in a unanimous decision, reversed and rejected the application of the prejudice requirement for the issue of waiver, which it described as "a rule found nowhere else—consider it a bespoke rule of waiver for arbitration." (*Id.* at 1712.) The Court explained that this "arbitration-specific rule derive[d] from a decades-old Second Circuit decision, which in turn grounded the rule in the FAA's policy." (*Id.* (citing *Carcich*, 389 F.2d at 696).)⁴

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