S275121

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

PETER QUACH,

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

CALIFORNIA COMMERCE CLUB, INC.,

Defendant and Appellant.

On Review from the Court Of Appeal Second Appellate District, Division One Appellate Court Case No. B310458

After an Appeal from Los Angeles Superior Court Hon. Michael L. Stern Superior Court No. 19STCV42445

ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

SANDERS ROBERTS LLP

Reginald Roberts, Jr. [SBN 216249]

*Eric S. Mintz [SBN 207384]

1055 W. 7th Street, Suite 3200

Los Angeles, California 90017-2557

(213) 426-5000

rroberts@sandersroberts.com
emintz@sandersroberts.com

BENEDON & SERLIN, LLP

*Wendy S. Albers [SBN 166993]

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

Judge v. Nijjar Realty, Inc. (2014) 232 Cal.App.4th 619, 629 [appealability of order vacating arbitration award is procedural issue governed by California law]; Mave Enterprises, Inc. v. Travelers Indemnity Co. (2013) 219 Cal.App.4th 1408, 1429 [procedural provisions of CAA apply in California courts unless contract states otherwise]; Swissmex-Rapid S.A. de C.V. v. SP Systems, LLC (2012) 212 Cal.App.4th 539, 541 [Section 9 of FAA which requires written consent of parties to judicial confirmation of award is procedural rule which only applies in federal court]; Valencia v. Smyth (2010) 185 Cal.App.4th 153, 173-174 (Valencia) [FAA procedural provisions do not apply in state court unless the contract expressly incorporates them]; Muao v. Grosvenor Properties (2002) 99 Cal.App.4th 1085, 1092 [Section 16 of FAA is procedural rule that does not apply in state court].)

The Court of Appeal exhaustively surveyed California case law in this area in *Valencia* and aptly summed up the judicial consensus that "the procedural provisions of the CAA apply in *California* courts by default." (*Valencia*, *supra*, 185 Cal.App.4th at p. 174, original italics.) In order to overcome this default rule, the parties must expressly designate that the arbitration proceedings "move forward under the FAA's procedural provisions rather than under state procedural law." (*Ibid.*, quoting *Cronus*, *supra*, 35 Cal.4th 376 at p. 394.)

The arbitration agreement in the present case contained no such express designation. (See AA 83-84.) Accordingly, California procedures apply.

The CAA requires a court to order parties to an arbitration agreement to arbitrate a controversy unless the right to compel has been waived by the moving party. (Code Civ. Proc., § 1281.2, subd. (a).) This statute provides the procedure which govern arbitration cases in California courts even when the substantive provisions of the FAA otherwise govern. (*Cronus, supra*, 35 Cal.4th at p. 394; *Rosenthal, supra*, 14 Cal.4th at p. 402.) Accordingly, California procedural rules on waiver apply here regardless of whether the arbitration agreement is governed by the FAA or CAA.

In sum, since *Morgan* made clear waiver is a federal procedural rule rather than a substantive matter, *Morgan* has no bearing on the present case. It does not abrogate *St. Agnes* or in any way signify that prejudice cannot be considered as a factor for arbitration waiver in California. *Morgan* reviewed FAA provisions that speak only to the federal courts and expressly left open "the role state law might play in resolving when a party's litigation conduct results in loss of a contractual right to arbitrate," including whether a different procedural framework is appropriate. (*Morgan*, *supra*, 142 S.Ct. at pp. 1712, 1714.)

II. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM THE ST. AGNES MULTI-FACTOR TEST FOR DETERMINING WAIVER.

A. The St. Agnes Factors Provide Practical Guideposts for Resolving Claims of Arbitration Waiver.

Because *Morgan* does not require California courts to change their analysis of whether a party has lost the right to compel arbitration, this Court can and should affirm that *St. Agnes*' multi-factor test provides the appropriate procedural framework for determining the loss of a contractual right to arbitrate in California courts. The *St. Agnes* test remains relevant because it reflects California's policy favoring arbitration and it captures and summarizes decades of California courts' analysis of arbitration waiver.

In *St. Agnes*, this Court addressed the issue of arbitration waiver based on a party's litigation conduct. The Court observed that California law "reflects a strong policy favoring arbitration agreements and requires close judicial scrutiny of waiver claims." (*St. Agnes, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1195.) Thus, while "a court may deny a petition to compel arbitration on the ground of waiver [under state law] (§ 1281.2, subd. (a)), waivers are not to be lightly inferred and the party seeking to establish a waiver bears a heavy burden of proof." (*Ibid.*; see *Church v. Public Utilities*

Commission of State (1958) 51 Cal.2d 399, 401 ["a waiver of a right cannot be established without a clear showing of an intent to relinquish such right and doubtful cases will be decided against a waiver"].)

California's clear preference for arbitration distinguishes this state's policy from federal law which *Morgan* concluded does not give preference to enforcement of arbitration agreements. (See, e.g., Moncharsh v. Heily & Blase (1992) 3 Cal.4th 1, 9-10 [California public policy favors enforcement of arbitration agreements].) The fact that the United States Supreme Court has now interpreted federal law to bar creation of legal rules which preference arbitration does not require this Court to retreat from California's lengthy history of favoring arbitration. Indeed, federal and state procedures frequently differ. (Manco Contracting Co. (W.L.L.) v. Bezdikian (2008) 45 Cal.4th 192, 202 [collecting cases on different federal and state law on finality of decisions]; Agricultural Labor Relations Bd. v. Tex-Cal Land Management, Inc. (1987) 43 Cal.3d 696, 701, fn. 3 [recognizing differences between procedures governing state Agricultural Labor Relations Board and National Labor Relations Board]; Veitch v. Superior Court (1979) 89 Cal.App.3d 722, 728 [California procedures governing motions for new trial differ from federal procedures].) Adopting a different procedural rule is particularly appropriate where necessary to advance and remain

consistent with this Court's prior pronouncements about preferencing arbitration.

Indeed, it was in looking to California case law and the California law's preference for arbitration that this Court adopted a multi-factor test for assessing when a moving party loses the right to arbitrate. In so doing, the Court endorsed a flexible, fact-based determination by trial courts, noting that "no single test delineates the nature of the conduct that will constitute a waiver of arbitration." (St. Agnes, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1195.)

The Court endorsed the following factors as relevant in assessing claims of waiver: "(1) whether the party's actions are inconsistent with the right to arbitrate; (2) whether the litigation machinery has been substantially invoked and the parties were well into preparation of a lawsuit before the party notified the opposing party of an intent to arbitrate; (3) whether a party either requested arbitration enforcement close to the trial date or delayed for a long period before seeking a stay; (4) whether a defendant seeking arbitration filed a counterclaim without asking for a stay of the proceedings; (5) whether important intervening steps [e.g., taking advantage of judicial discovery procedures not available in arbitration] had taken place; and (6) whether the delay affected, misled, or prejudiced the opposing party." (St. Agnes, supra, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1196, quoting Sobremonte v. Superior Court (1998) 61 Cal.App.4th 980, 992

(Sobremonte), internal quotations omitted.) These factors were re-affirmed by this Court in Iskanian v. CLS Transportation Los Angeles, LLC (2014) 59 Cal.4th 348, 375 (Iskanian), abrogated on other grounds in Viking River Cruises, Inc. v. Moriana (2022) _ U.S. _ [142 S.Ct. 1906, 213 L.Ed.2d 179].)

Long before *St. Agnes* articulated these guideposts for determining waiver, California courts had already agreed on the two outlying points: a party does not waive its right to seek arbitration merely by filing a lawsuit and, at the other end of the spectrum, waiver clearly occurs when litigation has resulted in a determination on the merits. (*Doers v. Golden Gate Bridge etc. Dist.* (1979) 23 Cal.3d 180, 183, 186.) The cases in between these points is where disagreement appeared. The factors articulated in *St. Agnes* arose to address the grey areas between these two points and provide guidance for determining when a moving party's litigation conduct rises to the level of a waiver. Without such factors, courts will struggle in determining how much litigation conduct is sufficient to constitute a waiver or how much delay is unreasonable which will lead to inconsistent results.

Additionally, maintaining a waiver analysis incorporating prejudice as a factor would *not* create an issue of federal preemption. The FAA only preempts contrary state laws that disadvantage the enforceability of arbitration agreements. (See Cable Connection, Inc. v. DIRECTV, Inc., supra, 44 Cal.4th at p. 1352 [the determinative question for preemption is whether

CAA procedures conflict with the FAA policy favoring the enforcement of arbitration agreements].) California's more stringent waiver analysis, consistent with California policy, promotes enforcement of arbitration agreements and, therefore, is not at odds with the FAA.

In sum, the *St. Agnes* factors have provided a workable framework for arbitration waiver in California. *Morgan* does not require this Court to upend years of California precedent on this subject.

B. Prejudice Has Long Been Considered a Factor In Assessing Claims of Arbitration Waiver Under California Law.

Quach urges this Court to eliminate the prejudice factor from the analysis of whether a party has waived its right to compel arbitration. Quach's reasons for advocating this change to the *St. Agnes* factors rests on two grounds: (1) *Morgan* does not recognize prejudice as a relevant consideration in the analysis of waiver of arbitration in federal courts; and (2) the purported need to conform California arbitration waiver law with analysis of waiver in other contractual settings. Neither requires this Court to abandon a factor that has a long and established history of providing guidance to California courts in determining whether waiver of arbitration has occurred.

Quach's first argument has already been addressed and shown wanting. As detailed above, *Morgan* applies only in federal courts and is based on the Supreme Court's conclusion that the FAA does not allow courts to give preference to arbitration. Because California's law differs from federal law in that it favors arbitration, following *Morgan* would undercut California policy.

Quach's second argument fares no better. Quach ignores that fact that St. Agnes was not the first California case – or even the first case from this Court – to recognize prejudice is a consideration in assessing whether arbitration has been waived. Indeed, that consideration has a long-established lineage in California jurisprudence. (See *Christensen v. Dewor* Developments (1983) 33 Cal.3d 778, 782; Keating v. Superior Court (1982) 31 Cal.3d 584, 605, revd. in part by Southland Corp., supra, 465 U.S. 1; Doers v. Golden Gate Bridge, Highway and Transportation Dist., supra, 23 Cal.3d at pp. 188-189; Martinez v. Scott Specialty Gases, Inc. (2000) 83 Cal. App. 4th 1236, 1250; Groom v. Health Net (2000) 82 Cal.App.4th 1189,1196; Berman v. Health Net (2000) 80 Cal.App.4th 1359, 1364-1369; Guess?, Inc. v. Superior Court (2000) 79 Cal.App.4th 553, 558; Sobremonte, supra, 61 Cal.App.4th at pp. 992-993; Davis v. Continental Airlines, Inc. (1997) 59 Cal. App. 4th 205, 212; Chase v. Blue Cross of California (1996) 42 Cal. App. 4th 1142, 1149-1151; Thorup v. Dean Witter Reynolds, Inc. (1986) 180 Cal.App.3d 228, 237; A.D. Hoppe Co. v. Fred Katz Constr. Co. (1967) 249 Cal.App.2d 154, 161-162.)

Quach's reason for jettisoning over 50 years of jurisprudence recognizing prejudice is a proper consideration in determining whether arbitration has been waived stems from his belief that this Court is required to do so under Code of Civil Procedure section 1281. That statute provides:

"A written agreement to submit to arbitration an existing controversy or a controversy thereafter arising is valid, enforceable and irrevocable, save upon such grounds as exist for the revocation of any contract."

Quach contends the statute requires perfect symmetry and parity between waiver in the context of arbitration and any other contract.

As an initial matter, Quach's premise that consideration of prejudice is unique in the context of arbitration contracts is flawed. California courts *have* considered prejudice when assessing waiver of contractual rights outside of the arbitration context. (See, e.g., *Applera Corp. v. MP Biomedicals, LLC* (2009) 173 Cal.App.4th 769, 791 [waiver of contractual provision requires showing of prejudice]; *Chase v. National Indem. Co.* (1954) 129 Cal.App.2d 853, 858 [waiver will not be presumed absent prejudice to other party].) And prejudice is the determinative consideration when assessing whether a party has

revoked its waiver of a contractual right. (*Kacha v. Allstate Ins. Co.* (2006) 140 Cal.App.4th 1023, 1035.)

Even if there were no history of considering prejudice in assessing waiver of contractual rights outside of the arbitration context, this would not be a reason to discard the prejudice factor. To do so would be to disregard the purpose of the CAA which, reflects "' a friendly policy toward the arbitration process." '" (Armendariz v. Foundation Health Psychcare Services, Inc. (2000) 24 Cal.4th 83, 97-98, quoting *Keating v. Superior Court*, supra, 31 Cal.3d at pp. 601-602.) Consistent with that policy, this Court has held "an arbitration agreement may only be *invalidated* [under Section 1281] for the same reasons as other contracts." (Id. at p. 98, emphasis added.) In other words, special rules may not be adopted to *disadvantage* arbitration agreements. The waiver analysis applied to arbitration agreements does not create a special rule to invalidate arbitration agreements; instead, it advances "a friendly policy toward the arbitration process." (*Id.* at pp. 97-98.)

Moreover, as this Court explained in *St. Agnes* "the term 'waiver' has a number of meanings in statute and case law. [Citation.] While 'waiver' generally denotes the voluntary relinquishment of a known right, it can also refer to the loss of a right as a result of a party's failure to perform an act it is required to perform, regardless of the party's intent to relinquish the right. [Citations.] In the arbitration context, '[t]he term

'waiver' has also been used as a shorthand statement for the conclusion that a contractual right to arbitration has been lost.' [Citation.]" (*St. Agnes, supra*, 31 Cal.4th at p. 1195, fn. 4.) Quach's argument disregards the broad manner in which the term "waiver" is used in the arbitration context and seeks to shoehorn the term into a more restricted contractual box from which it long ago escaped.

In addition to waiver, a contractual right also can be lost through principles of estoppel or forfeiture. As this Court has observed previously, "[a]lthough the distinctions between waiver, estoppel, and forfeiture can be significant, the terms are not always used with care." (*Lynch v. California Coastal Com.* (2017) 3 Cal.5th 470, 476 (*Lynch*).)

Waiver "requires an existing right, the waiving party's knowledge of that right, and the party's actual intention to relinquish the right. [Citation.] Waiver always rests upon intent. [Citation.] The intention may be express, based on the waiving party's words, or implied, based on conduct that is so inconsistent with an intent to enforce the right as to induce a reasonable belief that such right has been relinquished. [Citations.]" (*Lynch*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at p. 475, internal quotations omitted.)

"Waiver differs from estoppel, which generally requires a showing that a party's words or acts have induced detrimental reliance by the opposing party. [Citation.] It also differs from the related concept of forfeiture, which results when a party fails to preserve a claim by raising a timely objection." (*Lynch*, *supra*, 3 Cal.5th at pp. 475-476.)

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